
  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

 

 
Health,  Adult Social Care 

and Social Inclusion Policy 
and Accountability 

Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Tuesday 19 January 2016 
7.00 pm 

Courtyard Room - Hammersmith Town Hall 
 

MEMBERSHIP 
 
 

Administration: Opposition Co-optees 

Councillor Rory Vaughan 
(Chair) 
Councillor Hannah Barlow 
Councillor Natalia Perez 
 

Councillor Andrew Brown 
Councillor Joe Carlebach 
 

Patrick McVeigh, 
Action on Disability 
Bryan Naylor, Age UK 
Debbie Domb, 
HAFCAC 
 

 
CONTACT OFFICER: Sue Perrin 

Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2094 
 E-mail: sue.perrin@lbhf.gov.uk 
 
Reports on the open agenda are available on the Council’s website: 
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy 
 
Members of the public are welcome to attend. A loop system for hearing impairment 
is provided, along with disabled access to the building. 
 
 

Date Issued: 
 

11 January 2016 
 

http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy/Committee_reports_minutes_and_agendas/Current_Committees/Homepage.asp
http://www.lbhf.gov.uk/Directory/Council_and_Democracy


London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 

Health,  Adult Social Care and Social 
Inclusion Policy and Accountability 

Committee 
Agenda 

 
19 January 2016 

 
 
Item  Pages 

1.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  1 - 13 

 (a) To approve as an accurate record and the Chair to sign the 
minutes of the meeting of the Health, Adult Social Care and 
Social Inclusion PAC held on 4 November 2015. 

 
(b) To note the outstanding actions.  

 

2.   APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE   

3.   DECLARATION OF INTEREST   

 If a Councillor has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a particular item, 
whether or not it is entered in the Authority’s register of interests, or any 
other significant interest which they consider should be declared in the 
public interest, they should declare the existence and, unless it is a 
sensitive interest as defined in the Member Code of Conduct, the nature 
of the interest at the commencement of the consideration of that item or 
as soon as it becomes apparent. 
 
At meetings where members of the public are allowed to be in 
attendance and speak, any Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary 
interest or other significant interest may also make representations, give 
evidence or answer questions about the matter. The Councillor must 
then withdraw immediately from the meeting before the matter is 
discussed and any vote taken.  
 
Where Members of the public are not allowed to be in attendance and 
speak, then the Councillor with a disclosable pecuniary interest should 
withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter is under consideration. 
Councillors who have declared other significant interests should also 
withdraw from the meeting if they consider their continued participation 
in the matter would not be reasonable in the circumstances and may 
give rise to a perception of a conflict of interest. 
 
Councillors are not obliged to withdraw from the meeting where a 
dispensation to that effect has been obtained from the Audit, Pensions 
and Standards Committee.  

 

4.   INDEPENDENT HEALTHCARE COMMISSION FOR NORTH WEST 
LONDON  

 

 Members are asked to consider the key findings and main 
recommendations.  

 



 
The report is attached as a separate document. 

5.   SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD: ANNUAL REPORT 
2014/2015  

14 - 49 

 The Annual Report describes how the Board’s agencies, both jointly and 
independently, work to ensure the safety of those people within the 
boroughs who are deemed to be most at risk of harm through the 
actions of other people.  

 

6.   WORK PROGRAMME  50 - 51 

 The Committee is asked to consider its work programme for the 
remainder of the municipal year. 

 

7.   DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS   

 Tuesday 2 February 2106 
Monday 14 March 2016 
Monday 18 April 2016 

 

 



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

.  London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham 
 
 
 

Health,  Adult 
Social Care and 
Social Inclusion 

Policy and 
Accountability 

Committee 
Minutes 

 

Wednesday 4 November 2015 
 

 

 
 

PRESENT 
 
Committee members: Councillors Rory Vaughan (Chair),  Andrew Brown, 
Joe Carlebach and Natalia Perez 
 
Co-opted members: Bryan Naylor (Age UK) 
 
Other Councillors: Councillor Vivienne Lukey (Cabinet Member for Health & Adult 
Social Care), Councillor Sue Fennimore (Cabinet Member for Social Inclusion) and 
Councillor Sharon Holder (Lead Member for Health) 
 
Officers: Dr Ike Anya (Deputy Director of Public Health), Liz Bruce (Executive 
Director of Adult Social Care & Health), Sue Perrin (Committee Co-ordinator) and Dr 
Sarah Wallace (Public Health Trainee Registrar) 
 
NHS England: Johan van Wijgerden 
 
Hammersmith & Fulham CCG: Vanessa Andreae 
 
Central London Community Healthcare: Professor Charlie Sheldon and Holly 
Ashforth 
 
West London Mental Health Trust: Dr Nick Broughton and Sarah Rushton 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 1



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

29. MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 

(i) The minutes of the meeting held on 14 September 2015 were 
approved as an accurate record and signed by the Chair.  

 
(ii) The outstanding actions were noted. 

 
(iii) It was noted that e-mails to Chelsea and Westminster Healthcare NHS 

Trust on behalf of Mr Naylor and by Mr Naylor, relating to the 
acquisition of West Middlesex Hospital had been ignored by the Trust. 
It was further noted that Councillor Brown’s experience of the Trust  
had been different, and that he had met both the new Chief Executive 
and Chief Financial Officer.  

 
30. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
Apologies were received from Councillor Hannah Barlow, Debbie Domb and 
Patrick McVeigh and from Councillor Joe Carlebach for lateness.  
 

31. DECLARATION OF INTEREST  
 
Councillor Vivienne Lukey declared an interest in that she is a trustee of 
Hammersmith & Fulham Mind. 
 
Councillor Andrew Brown declared an interest in respect of consultancy work 
in relation to vaccinations. 
 
Councillor Joe Carlebach declared an interest in that he served with the Chair 
of West London Mental Health Trust on the board of Arthritis UK and his wife 
is a trustee of Hammersmith & Fulham Mind.  
 

32. FLU ACTION PLAN 2015/1016: UPDATE  
 
The committee received an update on the work undertaken by NHS England 
(NHSE), Public Health and Hammersmith & Fulham Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG), both jointly and independently, to increase vaccine uptake and 
future action plans. 
 
Councillor Vaughan queried the availability of data and how it would be 
monitored.  Mr van Wijgerden responded that some preliminary data was 
available but this had not been validated. The early indications, compared 
with the previous year, were that performance was better in respect of the 
65plus age group and pregnant women, but worse in respect of at risk groups 
and children (probably as a consequence of the temporary unavailability of 
the vaccine).  
 
Councillor Vaughan queried the progress with the schools’ vaccination 
programme and with a children’s centre pilot. Mr van Wijgerden responded 
that Central North West London NHS Foundation Trust (CNWL), the provider 
for the immunisations for North West London, was liaising with all primary 
schools, in respect of years 1 and 2, and had started to organise sessions. 

Page 2



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
A national directive prevented CNWL from offering the vaccine to reception 
and nursery children. Mrs Andreae added that this group would be given the 
vaccine in GP surgeries and GPs would be expected to facilitate this by, for 
example, organising sessions after school.  
 
Mrs Andreae stated that a children’s centre pilot was still being discussed. 
There were a number of issues such as: clinical waste management; storage 
of the vaccine at the correct temperature; consent given by people for whom 
English was not their first language; and the possibility of repeating the 
vaccine because of the absence of medical records. Dr Anya added that a 
meeting with Children’s Services had identified possible children’s centres.  
 
Councillor Perez queried which schools had not engaged with CNWL 
(paragraph 4.4). Mr van Wijgerden responded that he was not aware of any, 
but there might be an issue in respect of some schools being too small for the 
vaccine to be efficiently organised. Alternative arrangements would be made 
and parents informed.  
 
Councillor Brown queried the supply issue with the  children’s nasal spray flu 
vaccine. Mrs Andreae responded that a batch had been deemed to not be of 
sufficient quality. Mr van Wijgerden added that the vaccine was manufactured 
in Britain, but the replacement batch had been from America.  
 
Councillor Carlebach was aware of two schools, which had not been 
contacted by CNWL. Mr van Wijgerden would follow up with providers. 
 
It was stated that CNWL is the provider for the immunisations and school 
nurses.  
 
Post meeting note: It was clarified after the meeting that CLCH is the school 
nurse provider. 
 
Councillor Carlebach emphasised the importance of providing the vaccine to 
children with disabilities. Mr van Wijgerden responded that for special needs 
schools, the vaccine was being offered to children of all ages.  
 
Councillor Carlebach stated that some letters sent to parents referred to an 
injection. Mrs Andreae responded that whilst a template letter from Public 
Health had been sent to all practices, they could chose to send their own 
letter. Mrs Andreae agreed to arrange for the CCG to contact all practices to 
re-enforce the message that there was a need for clear communication, 
referring to immunisation, not vaccination, and would forward this message to 
Kensington & Chelsea CCG.  
 
Councillor Carlebach queried the number of at risk in-patients who had 
received the vaccination. Mrs Andreae responded that the vaccination was 
not given to patients whilst in hospital, but before admission or after 
discharge, either by their GP practice or CLCH for housebound patients. It 
was inappropriate to give to unwell patients in an acute hospital, which would 
not have access to GP records. 

Page 3



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
Councillor Lukey referred to the role of the Community Independence 
Service, which included both Imperial College Healthcare and Chelsea and 
Westminster Hospital. Mrs Bruce agreed to ensure that the service was 
aware of the target groups and to send information to the relevant Chief 
Executives. Mrs Andreae added that the Clinical Quality Groups would also 
be an appropriate forum. 
 
Dr Anya stated that  letters had gone to local hospitals from public health as 
part of the action plan. 
 
Mr Naylor stated that there was anecdotal evidence that older people were 
reluctant to have the vaccination because in the previous year, it was 
perceived not to work, to give people flu and to make people feel ill. The 
message that the current vaccination was effective had not reached people. 
 
In addition to the publicity set out in the report, Mr Naylor suggested that there 
should be information in places where older people gathered such as lunch 
clubs. There needed to be a lot more advertising and persuasion.   
 
Members noted that the issue of some faith groups having difficulty in 
accepting the vaccine needed to be resolved. Dr Anya stated that Rabbi 
Abraham Adler from the Kashrus and Medicines Information Service, had 
issued a statement on the acceptability of the vaccine for Jewish people but 
there had not been a similar statement from a Muslim leader that had been 
published by Public Health England. 
 
Mr van Wijgerden added that NHSE was engaging with all faith groups, and 
most appeared to be in favour of the vaccine. However, this was not always 
reflected at local level, where leaders were influential. Mr van Wijgerden 
considered that it would take longer than a year to change attitudes.  
 
Mr van Wijgerden stated that the previous year’s vaccine was a good vaccine, 
but did not work for one strain of flu. It would not be known until February if 
the current vaccine was successful in working against the prevalent strain of 
flu.  
 
Councillor Perez queried how the open access service, which would enable 
GPs to vaccinate unregistered patients, was being promoted and whether the 
practices provider hubs would register unregistered patients. Mr van 
Wijgerden responded that the open access Service Level Agreement had 
been created at the request of GPs. The initiative had been piloted in the 
previous year. Members suggested that the hubs could be promoted at 
Foodbanks.  
 
Mrs Andreae stated that people would be welcome to register with a GP at 
the three hubs.  
 
Councillor Holder stated that the Council sat on the Patient Reference Group, 
and she would ensure that flu immunisation was on the agenda.  
 

Page 4



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Mr van Wijgerden responded to a query that community pharmacies did not 
currently offer children’s vaccinations.  
 
Councillor Vaughan thanked officers for attending. The Committee welcomed 
and was encouraged by the work which had been undertaken, particularly the 
joint work, which could be a model for future co-operation. The three 
organisations had come together in a fragmented health system to work 
strategically.  The Committee however noted that the challenge around 
changing attitudes remained.  
 
Actions: 
 

1. The schools contacted by CNWL to be confirmed. 
 

2. The flu vaccination to be advertised in lunch clubs.  
 

Action: NHSE/Public Health 
 

 
RESOLVED THAT:  
 

1. The report be noted.  
 
2. An item on vaccinations generally be added to the work programme. 

 
3. CNWL be invited to a future meeting.  

 
4. The performance monitoring data be provided to Members. 

 
5. An update report, at the end of the flu season be added to the work 

programme.  
 

6. It was recommended that: 
 
(i) joint working should be expanded to a wider range of 

vaccination programmes; and 
(ii) more work should be done with acute providers. 
 

 
33. CENTRAL LONDON COMMUNITY HEALTHCARE RESPONSE TO THE 

CARE QUALITY COMMISSION INSPECTION REPORT  
 
The Committee received a report on the Care Quality Commission (CQC) 
comprehensive assessment of Central London Community Healthcare NHS 
Trust (CLCH) and subsequent action plan. Overall the Trust had been rated 
as ‘good’. End of Life Care had been rated as ‘Requires Improvement’. 
 
Mr Naylor queried whether the tasks to address the criticism in respect of End 
of Life Care were achievable and when they would be achieved. Ms Ashforth 
responded that the tasks were outlined in the action plan, with the months in 
which they would be achieved. There were some longer terms tasks, such as  

Page 5



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

education and training throughout the Trust, which would be completed by the 
end of March 2016. The action plan was on track.  
 
Mr Naylor considered that people wanting to die in their own homes was a 
questionable assumption. There was some indication that people wanted to 
be looked after and welcomed the opportunity for hospice care. Professor 
Sheldon stated that the Trust was commissioned to provide inpatient care 
only at the Pembridge Palliative Care Centre. The Trust collected data on 
patient’s preferred place of death. An End of Life Care strategy was being 
developed.  
 
Dr Anya noted that a Joint Strategic Needs Assessment for End of Life Care 
was in progress. National evidence indicated that people preferred to die at 
home. This needed to be explored locally. A joint strategy with commissioners 
would be developed in the following year. Organisations would be asked to 
input, and the steering group would include representatives from the voluntary 
sector, including Age UK.    
 
Mr Naylor stated that the work done eight years ago had disappeared 
because of lack of progress.  
 
Councillor Lukey noted that the CCG commissioned beds at St. Vincent’s 
Care Home, and that there were different options in the provision of End of 
Life Care. 
 
Councillor Vaughan asked the Trust to expand on where it had failed in End 
of Life Care and specifically the criticism in respect of nutrition, and how it 
planned to address these issues.  
 
Professor Sheldon responded that the Pembridge Centre also provided 
outreach services, out-patient facilities and day care. The process of End of 
Life Care varied for different patients. The focus was on symptom control and 
patient comfort. Some of the criticism in respect of nutrition related to the 
Trust not using the recognised nutrition score. Staff had explained why they 
did things in a different way, but this had not been accepted by a panel of 
experts.  A number of points raised by the CQC had been quickly addressed.  
 
Professor Sheldon responded to a query that the Pembridge Centre had 13 
beds and provided offender health and district nursing services.  
      
The CQC had raised key issues in respect of: risk assessment; community 
health services for children, younger people and families; and the patient 
record system. At the time of the visit, there was a high vacancy rate and use 
of agency staff. The vacancy rate had subsequently been reduced and work 
was ongoing to reduce further. 
 
The patient record system used within the Pembridge Palliative Care Centre,  
‘Crosscare’, was being reviewed and quality and data would be bench 
marked with two other palliative care units.  
 
 

Page 6



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

RESOLVED THAT: 
 

1. The report be noted. 
 
2. The PAC congratulated the Trust on its ‘good’ rating and staff on their 

hard work. 
 

3. It was noted that there were concerns around End of Life Care and that 
much of the action plan had been quickly implemented.  
 

4. CLCH would be invited to a future meeting to update on the action 
plan. 
 

5. End of Life Care, in a broader sense would be added to the work 
programme.  
 

6. It was recommended that Age UK and other voluntary groups be 
consulted on the End of Life JSNA.  

 
 

Councillor Vaughan thanked CLCH for attending the meeting. 
 
 

34. WEST LONDON MENTAL HEALTH TRUST RESPONSE TO CARE 
QUALITY COMMISSION INSPECTION REPORT  
 
The Committee received a report on the CQC inspection of West London 
Mental Health Trust (WLMHT) and the quality improvement plan. The Trust 
had received an overall rating of ‘Requires Improvement’ and ‘Good’ in 
respect of being ‘Caring’ and ‘Responsive’. 12 regulatory requirements had 
been placed upon WLMHT. 
 
The presentation set out the CQC judgement in respect of the Trust’s 
strengths and the key areas for improvement. The recruitment and retention 
of trained nurses remained a major issue, and impacted on morale and 
safety. This was a particular London problem, linked to the cost of 
accommodation.  
 
The presentation set out the key points in respect of transforming local 
services. Ms Rushton gave examples of some of the training needs, which 
were being addressed: staff did not understand what might be considered a 
‘restrictive practice’, for example holding or a guiding arm for an elderly 
person; moving and handling techniques; and advocacy arrangements.  
 
There were issues in respect of the physical environment. Some bedrooms 
did not have call bells. There were no seclusion facilities for female patients. 
Whilst work was ongoing to minimise the need for seclusion, if required for a 
female patient, a room on a male intensive-care ward had to be used. The 
longer term plan was to make some separate space, but this would mean 
losing bed space. To provide privacy and dignity, there needed to be some 
re-positioning of CCTV.   

Page 7



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

 
Whilst some issues were easy to resolve, there were also some which were 
longer term. WLMHT would work with community care leads to ensure that 
only the right patients were treated in secondary care. 
 
Councillor Perez referred to the recruitment and retention of trained nurses 
impacting on morale and safety, and queried what this meant and what was 
being done to recruit and train staff to deal with difficult patients.  
 
Dr Broughton responded that the Trust Board received a monthly report. 
Staffing every shift was dependent on bank and agency staff, and it was not 
always possible to provide the same quality of care. The CQC was concerned 
that the use of agency staff could not be considered safe and could increase 
the likelihood of things going wrong.  
 
Ms Rushton stated that the Hammersmith & Fulham in-patient unit was fully 
staffed. There were a variety of initiatives to improve recruitment and 
retention including:  developing strong links with local colleges so that 
students would want to stay at WLMHT after their training; career progression 
with training opportunities; conversations around affordable housing; greater 
staff engagement and influence at all levels; and quality improvements 
through latest methodology. There was evidence of improvements in 
recruitment and retention.  
 
Councillor Carlebach queried whether the ‘Requires Improvement’ rating had 
occurred because the Trust’s focus was split between community mental 
health services and a secure unit with the high profile of Broadmoor Hopital. 
Ms Rushton responded that the new clinical model was split into two 
directorates: high secure and forensic services including Broadmoor Hospital, 
and local and specialist services at Ealing Hospital. There were five service 
lines focusing on key areas: liaison and long term conditions; access and 
urgent care; primary and planned mental health care; cognitive impairment 
and dementia; and Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services and 
developmental services.  
 
WLMHT would not be allowed to separate Broadmoor Hospital. Dr Broughton 
added that there were inherent advantages in pooling resources and skills 
across the two directorates. Experience of all mental health services was 
beneficial to career progression.  
 
Mr Naylor stated that a year previously, the Healthwatch dignity champions 
had visited the mental health unit at Charing Cross. They had submitted a 
report, but had received no feedback. Ms Rushton responded that a meeting 
had been arranged with Healthwatch in respect of this report and other 
issues.  
 
Mr Naylor queried whether WLMHT was prepared for an expanded role in 
respect of the growing older population and increase in dementia and how it 
would work with elderly carers of dementia patients. Ms Rushton responded 
that WLMHT was working with Ealing and Hounslow Councils to progress 
plans, but Hammersmith & Fulham had decided to put the service out to 

Page 8



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

tender. The specification was similar to the service which WLMHT had been 
commissioned to deliver to Ealing and Hounslow. WLMHT would try to work 
collaboratively to get the right service delivered.  
 
Councillor Brown queried whether there was anything with which the Council 
could help WLMHT. Ms Rushton responded that a meeting had been 
arranged with Councillor Lukey and Mrs Bruce and the CCG in respect of 
mental health planning in the borough. However, housing was equally 
important and WLMHT would welcome more discussion.  
 
Councillor Lukey commented on a meeting between Housing and Adult Social 
Care at which both had brought their most difficult cases. The discussion had 
highlighted the need to get involved earlier. Councillor Lukey stated that the 
Council was committed to working with mental health partners and the 
voluntary sector.  
  
Councillor Vaughan thanked WLMHT for attending the meeting.  
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 

1. The report be noted. 
 
2. The action plan be noted and specifically in respect of the regulatory 

requirements and recruitment and retention of staff issues. 
 

3. The CQC rating of ‘Requires Improvement’ was disappointing.  
 

4. It was recommended that the Council should work with WLMHT in 
respect of housing and other matters.  
 

5. It was recommended that WLMHT should feedback to and work with 
Healthwatch.  
 

6. The implementation of a model which prioritised local services was 
welcome, and an update report on its success should be added to the 
work programme. In addition, the report should include examples of a 
career model at WLMHT.  

 
 

35. PUBLIC HEALTH UPDATE - FINANCE, COMMUNITY CHAMPIONS AND 
ORAL HEALTH  
 
The Committee received an update report, which provided further detail in 
respect of: 

 Finance - a summary of current consultations regarding in-year cuts to 
the Public  Health budget and future funding allocation levels;  

 Community Champions - a description of the commissioned services; and  

 Children’s Oral Health. 
 

Page 9



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

Dr Anya stated that the Department of Health had confirmed that the budget 
reduction would be 6.2% for 2015/2016, a saving of £200 million from the 
grant to local authorities across England.  
 
Councillor Carlebach noted the lack of progress in respect of children having 
decayed teeth extracted. Dr Anya responded that there had been some 
concentrated work locally, including integrating oral health within healthy 
weight programmes. It was likely to take a while to see improvements as the 
programme had not been implemented consistently previously.  
 
Councillor Carlebach noted the significant work of the Community Champions 
and queried what was being done to raise the profile of their work and to 
publish the evidence, and also to work with difficult to engage GPs. Dr Anya 
responded that Public Health was working more closely with CCGs and had 
specific Public Health campaigns. A Community Champions event was being 
held on 25 November and the work was publicised via conferences. 
 
The Social Return on Investment Evaluation Report of the Community 
Champions would be provided. 

 
Action: Dr Anya 

 
Councillor Brown referred to the reduction in funding and queried the statutory 
requirements and the amount of discretion regarding the funding allocated. Dr 
Anya responded that certain priorities were statutory requirements such as 
sexual health services and NHS Health Checks, whilst others  such as 
reducing smoking rates and substance misuse were not statutory 
requirements, but had significant impact on the health and wellbeing of the 
local population. 
 
Mrs Bruce added that Child Obesity was included as a priority on the national 
agenda. The Public Health strategy included shared priorities in addition to 
the national priorities and there was also a local Hammersmith & Fulham 
priority of reducing the health inequalities associated with childhood poverty. 
Education in respect of sugary food and drinks would be a high priority and 
would be supported by the Child Obesity work. 
 
Information would be provided in respect of the national priorities, indicating 
whether they were mandatory or discretionary. 
 
In respect of ‘Keep Smiling’, the names of the five schools in which the 
programme was delivered in 2014/2015 and the five schools in which it would 
be delivered in 2015/2016 would be provided. 
 

Action: Dr Anya 
 
RESOLVED THAT: 
 

1. The report be noted. 
 

Page 10



_____________________________________________________________________________________________________ 
Minutes are subject to confirmation at the next meeting as a correct record of the proceedings and any amendments arising will 
be recorded in the minutes of that subsequent meeting. 

 

2. The Committee recommended that the work in respect of Child Oral 
Health and Obesity should be a higher priority and there should be 
more joined up work with Public Health England, and also more work 
with Education.  
 

3. A report on the work of Community Champions be added to the work 
programme.  
 

4. An update report be added to the work programme.  
 
 

36. WORK PROGRAMME  
 
Councillor Vaughan stated that the Healthcare Commission Report and the 
Safeguarding Adults Report would be taken at the December meeting. The 
other items shown on the work programme would be deferred in order to 
allow adequate time for discussion. 
 
Councillor Fennimore suggested that a report on the Co-commissioning work 
be added to the work programme. 
 

37. DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS  
 
2 December 2015 
2 February 2015 
14 March 2016 
18 April 2016 
 

 
Meeting started: 7.00 pm 
Meeting ended: 9.35 pm 

 
 

Chair   

 
 
 
 

Contact officer: Sue Perrin 
Committee Co-ordinator 
Governance and Scrutiny 

 : 020 8753 2094 
 E-mail: sue.perrin@lbhf.gov.uk 
 

Page 11



  

 APPENDIX 1 
Recommendation and Action Tracking 

 
The schedule below sets out progress in respect of those substantive recommendations and actions arising from the Health, Adult 
Social Care and Social Inclusion Policy and Accountability Committee 
 

Minute 
No.  

Item Action/recommendation 
 

Lead Responsibility 
Progress/Outcome  

Status 

6. 6. Preparing for Adulthood: A 
Report About Young People 
Aged 14-25 Years with 
Disabilities  
 

(i) The stage of the consultation to 
be clarified. 

 
(ii)  Information requested, as 

detailed in the minutes. 
 

(iii) Clarification of comments 
allegedly made by Andrew 
Christie ‘however, we cannot 
change the fact that, once young 
people turn 18, they must 
transition to Adult Services.’ 

 

Information circulated. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Response from Mr 
Christie reported to July 
PAC.  

Complete/to 
be followed 
up by task 
Group. 
 
 
 
Complete  

17. 7. Primary Care Briefing: GP 
Networks Plan 2015-2016 
and Out of Hospital Services  

(i) A timetable for rolling out the 
model across boroughs to be 
provided. 

 
(ii) A written response to be provided 

in respect of a mental health 
assessment, and the requirement 
to visit a GP beforehand.  

 

Information from H&F 
CCG circulated. 

Complete 

23.  8. West London Mental Health 
Trust 

Details of the West London 
Collaborative event to be circulated. 

Information circulated. Complete 
 
 

P
age 12



  

 26. 9. Customer Satisfaction A written response to be provided in 
respect of the number of complaints 
upheld and the improvements made.  
 

Information circulated.  Complete 

32. 
 

10. Flu Action Plan 2015/2016 
Update 

11.  

The schools contacted by CNWL to 
be confirmed. 

NHS England  

35. 12. Public Health Update – 
Finance, Community 
Champions and Oral Health 

(i) The Social Return on Investment 
Evaluation Report of the 
Community Champions to be 
provided.  

(ii) Information in respect of the 
mandatory and discretionary 
priorities to be provided. 

(iii) ‘Keep Smiling’: the names of the 
schools in which the programme 
was/is being delivered to be 
provided.   

Link to report provided. 
 
 
 
Document circulated. 
 
 
Names of schools 
circulated. 

Complete 

 

P
age 13



 

London Borough of Hammersmith & 
Fulham 

 
HEALTH, ADULT SOCIAL CARE & SOCIAL 
INCLUSION POLICY & ACCOUNTABILITY  

 
19 JANUARY 2016 

 

 

 

TITLE OF REPORT: Safeguarding Adults Executive Board Annual Report 
2014/15 

Report of the Independent Chair of the Safeguarding Adults Executive Board 
 

Open Report 
 

Classification -  For Information  

Key Decision: No 

Wards Affected: All 
 

Accountable Executive Director: Liz Bruce, Executive Director Adult Social Care 
 

Report Author: Helen Banham, Strategic Lead, 
Professional Standards and Safeguarding 
 

Contact Details: 
Tel: 020 641 4196 
E-mail: 
hbanham@westminster.gov.uk 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1. EXECUTIVE SUMMARY 
 

1.1. The report attached as APPENDIX 1 is a summary of the work carried out by the 
Safeguarding Adults Executive Board (referred to below as ‘the Board’) that 
serves the three boroughs of Hammersmith & Fulham; Kensington and Chelsea; 
and Westminster, during 2014/15.  

 
1.2. The report describes how the Board’s member agencies work together, and 

independently, to promote the safety of people in the three boroughs who are 
most at risk of abuse and neglect through the actions, or inactions of others. 

 
1.3. In line with the ‘Protocol to set out governance arrangements between the 

London Borough of Hammersmith and Fulham Health and Wellbeing Board and 
the Safeguarding Adults Board’ adopted in January 2015, this report is intended to 
demonstrate how the local authorities, and the Clinical Commissioning Groups are 

AUTHORISED BY:  ....................................... ...................................................... 
 
………………………………………………. 
 

DATE: …………………………………….. 
 

Page 14

Agenda Item 5

mailto:hbanham@westminster.gov.uk


meeting their legal obligations under the Care Act 2014 that put adult 
safeguarding on a statutory footing from 1st April 2015. 

  
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1. That the Committee note the report and address questions to the Independent 
Chair of the Safeguarding Adults Executive Board. 

 
3. INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  

3.1. The Care Act 2014 was enacted from 1st April 2015 and puts adult safeguarding 
on a statutory footing.  This report is designed to provide assurance that the adult 
safeguarding governance arrangements that have been in place since 2013 mean 
that the local authorities are able to meet their legal obligations under the Act. 

3.2.  At its January 2015 meeting, the Board adopted five outcomes and the report 
outlines what work it done to deliver these outcomes, and its priorities for 2015/16.  

4. PROPOSAL AND ISSUES  

4.1.   A key priority was to increase the involvement of local people in safeguarding 
adults, as defined in the Care Act.  

Increasing Local People’s Involvement in Adult Safeguarding 

4.2. To this end the Community Engagement sub-group, one of the four work-streams 
which help the Board to deliver its work plan, organised a consultation event in 
November 2015.  Residents of the three boroughs worked with voluntary 
organisations and advocacy groups to define what adult safeguarding means to 
them, and what is important to them with regards to their safety, and the safety of 
those least able to protect themselves from harm. What people said will shape the 
Board’s work plan for 2016-18 and open up new ways of engaging with 
communities and involving new partners in adult safeguarding activities. 

Safeguarding Adults Reviews 
 

4.3. Section 44 of the Act places a new requirement on Safeguarding Adults Boards to 
review deaths, where an adult its area dies, or suffers serious harm, as a result of 
abuse or neglect, whether known or suspected, and there is concern that 
agencies could have worked more effectively to protect the person.  

 
4.4. Since 1st April 2015, the Board has reviewed 13 deaths, across the three 

boroughs (3 from LBHF). The reviews are carried out by a multi-agency sub-group 
of the Board (the Safeguarding Adults Case Review Group) which ensures that 
the reviews are transparent, and that members hold each other to account, as well 
as accounting to the Board. A guiding principle for all reviews is the early 
involvement of the person themselves, if they are recovering from serious harm, 
or their family where they have died, in the review process. 

 
4.5. The Board has commissioned its first formal Safeguarding Adults Review and is in 

the process of disseminating the learning from this review. The report will be 

Page 15



published and the implementation of findings and impact of learning will be 
reported in the Annual Report of the Board 2015/16. The main finding confirms the 
need to commission appropriate care for older people with dementia and complex 
care needs. 

 
Closer working between Adult Safeguarding, Children’s Safeguarding and 
Community Safety.  

 
4.6. The Care Act introduces additional categories of abuse, including domestic abuse, 

and modern-day slavery, to which the local authority has a responsibility to 
respond to and where possible, prevent.  

 
4.7. To this end, the Board is working closely with the Violence Against Women and 

Girls Board and the Local Safeguarding Children’s Board, ensuring proper 
representation on each, and aligning their strategic priorities.  This is to ensure 
that all the work, including reviews of deaths, is securely covered, whilst avoiding 
costly duplication of effort. 

 
Safer Recruitment Thematic Review 

 
4.8. The Board has completed this review and has developed a practice guide that all 

member agencies are being encouraged to adopt. 
 

Resourcing the Work of the Board 
 
4.9. Since the publication of the 2014/15 Annual Report, contributions to the work of 

the Board have been secured from the Clinical Commissioning Groups, the 
Metropolitan Police, and the London Fire Brigade. This is a welcome development 
indicating real commitment of agencies to adult safeguarding and recognition of 
the statutory nature of this area of work. 

 
5. CONSULTATION 

5.1.      As required by the Care Act 2014, the Safeguarding Adults Executive Board’s  
priorities for its strategic plan 2016/17 are being developed following consultation 
in November 2015 with representatives of the local communities, and 
Healthwatch. 
 

6.      EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 

6.1.     There are no equality issues associated with this report. 

7.      LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 

7.1.      There are no legal implications associated with this report. 
 

8.      FINANCIAL AND RESOURCES IMPLICATIONS 

8.1.      There are no financial implications associated with this report. 
 

Page 16



LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000 
LIST OF BACKGROUND PAPERS USED IN PREPARING THIS REPORT 

 

No. 
 

Description of 
Background Papers 

Name/Ext  of holder of 
file/copy 

Department/ 
Location 

1. None   

 
 
LIST OF APPENDICES: 
APPENDIX 1 :Safeguarding Adults Executive Board Annual Report 2014/15 

Page 17



SAFEGUARDING ADULTS  
EXECUTIVE BOARD
ANNUAL REPORT  
2014/15

mistreated?
bullied?
hit?
neglected? 
hurt?
exploited?
silenced?

COURAGE
COMPASSION 
ACCOUNTABILITY

Page 18



SAFEGUARDING ADULTS  
EXECUTIVE BOARD
ANNUAL REPORT  
2014/15

Page 19



SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15      3

FOREWORD	 4

NATIONAL CONTEXT	 6  
FOR SAFEGUARDING

WHAT THE SAFEGUARDING	 8  
ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  
IS AND WHAT IT DOES 

WHAT WE SET OUT 	 10  
TO DO IN 2014/15

WHAT WE ACHIEVED IN 2014/15	 12

THE FIVE OUTCOMES: 	 14 
WE SAID – WE DID 

PRIORITIES FOR 2015/16	 20
What we learned in 2014/15	 20
What we will be working on in 2015/16	 21

MEASURING PROGRESS	 22  
TOWARDS THE OUTCOMES

GLOSSARY OF TERMS	 30

CONTENTS

Page 20



I 
am pleased to present the second annual report of the Safeguarding 
Adults Executive Board (SAEB) for Hammersmith & Fulham, Kensington 
and Chelsea, and Westminster. The report describes how the Board’s 
agencies, both jointly and independently, work to ensure the safety of 

those people within the boroughs who are deemed to be most at risk of 
harm through the actions of other people. 

The Care Act 2014 which became law on 1 April 2015 prescribes a more 
wide ranging definition of abuse; one of a number of significant changes 
contained in the Act.

Section 14 of the statutory guidance outlines how the Act affects 
Safeguarding Boards. In certain key areas we are already compliant; the SAEB 
has been in existence for over 2 years and we have compiled and published 
annual strategies and reports throughout my time as chair. 

The Board has made significant progress in setting up its Safeguarding Adults 
Case Review Group. This group examines all cases involving serious harm to 
or death of an adult in need of care and support, where agencies might have 
worked together to prevent abuse or harm. The group makes recommendations 
to me as an independent chair as to the next steps. For example, they 
considered the death of an elderly resident at a local care home in November 
2014 and I decided to instigate an independently-led safeguarding adults 
review. The final report will be considered by the Board in December 2015.

However there are important decisions which need to be resolved in the next 
few months. I have already challenged member agencies to contribute to 
a Board budget (it currently has no funds so case reviews are reliant upon 
the generosity of individual members); how each member will meet the 
requirement for a Designated Safeguarding Manager; and the need to agree 
and implement information sharing arrangements which are both practical 
and understood by all staff. 

The statistics at the end of the report show the progress achieved against  
the Board’s outcomes framework. It is also important to look at the impact 
on individuals. The report contains examples of anonymised safeguarding 
investigations which had different resolutions but all had the active 
involvement and agreement of the person concerned at each stage of the 
enquiry. These are examples of the Making Safeguarding Personal (MSP) 
initiative which is being adopted by all Adult Social Care and Mental Health 
teams. MSP is a Board priority for 2015/16. Its impact upon safeguarding 
investigations is discussed by Board members and managers at the annual 
case study sessions. These informal meetings are well-received by both 
case managers and Board members, giving an opportunity for increased 
understanding of the demands and challenges faced by front line staff as 
well as reflective learning by the practitioner with a Board member.

4      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15

FOREWORD

Page 21



From our priorities for 2015/16, I would highlight one key area: obtaining 
the views of people who use services and their families to support 
continuous improvement. This is the remit of the Community Engagement 
sub-group, one of the four workstreams which help the Board to deliver its 
work plan. To ensure a wider representation, this group now has two chairs; 
the safeguarding leads from both MIND and the Peabody Housing Association. 
The group will be organising a consultation on the Board’s strategic priorities 
for 2015-18 in order find new ways of engaging with our communities and 
involving new partners in safeguarding activities.

I would like to end by thanking everyone for their contributions to the work 
of the Board. I am impressed by the commitment shown by all members 
and their common sense of purpose to ensuring the safety and well-being of 
residents in need of our care and support.

Mike Howard 
Independent Chair of the Safeguarding Adults Executive Board

SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15      5

FOREWORD

Safeguarding in action
Mrs. Y is 83 years old and recently moved into a local care 
home. When she was younger, she suffered from mental 
illness. A safeguarding concern was raised by her daughter 
who said that she was concerned about the care her 
mother received, particularly the amount of time she was 
spending in bed. She had raised the issues with the care 
home but was not happy with their response.

A care manager who had known Mrs. Y for some time, 
made enquiries and found that much of what Mrs. Y’s 
daughter was saying was true. However, the reason Mrs. 
Y stayed in bed was that she was reluctant to get up, and 
it took time every day for staff to persuade and encourage 
her to do so. Mrs. Y has capacity and confirmed this 
account of events.

At the meeting to discuss what the care manager had 
found, it was clear that the trust between the home and 
Mrs. Y’s daughter had broken down, so the chair of the 
meeting focused on what could be done to rebuild this. 
Mrs. Y’s daughter said that the best thing for her mother 
would be to move to another home. Arrangements were 
made for Mrs. Y to go and visit another home, but on the 
day of the visit, Mrs. Y changed her mind. Mrs. Y said that 
there was nothing left to do with regard to safeguarding. 

Her daughter said she would use the home’s complaints 
service if she had other concerns about the quality of  
care provided.

Page 22



T
he most significant driver for change this year in 
safeguarding has been the implementation of the  
Care Act 2014 which has placed safeguarding 
adults on a statutory footing. The Act requires local 

authorities to have in place a Safeguarding Adults Board, 
with a strategic plan and an annual report on how it is 
achieving it strategic goals.

The governance arrangements for safeguarding in the three 
boroughs are sound, with a well-attended Safeguarding 
Adults Executive Board made up of representatives from 
the three key agencies; Adult Social Care; the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups; and the Police, and most agencies 
working with adults at risk. 

The three workstreams of the Board: Community 
Engagement; Developing Best Practice; and Measuring 
Effectiveness, are sustained by the work of an even larger 
group of people committed to progressing the Board’s work 
of preventing abuse and neglect in the three boroughs. 

Work is complete on the arrangements for the Board to 
fulfil the requirement under Section 44 of the Act, to review 
deaths or incidents of serious harm, where agencies may 
have worked together more effectively to prevent harm. 
The Safeguarding Adults Case Review group meets every 
six weeks and has made its first recommendation, which 
was accepted by the Chair of the Board, for a Safeguarding 
Adults Review.

The Act has introduced new categories of abuse: self-
neglect; modern-day slavery; and domestic abuse. 

This has sharpened the need for the Board to work more 
closely with a wider range of partners including the Violence 
Against Women and Girls strand of Community Safety; and 
with the Local Children’s Safeguarding Board on shared 
agendas such as mental health; substance use; and domestic 
abuse; and, with the new responsibilities towards carers 
under the Act, with young people in transition.

Work around self-neglect and hoarding, has meant 
strengthening partnership working between health; 
environmental health; Adult Social Care; housing; and the 
London Fire Brigade. There is a growing commitment to joint 
risk assessment, risk management, and planned interventions 
which are designed to improve people’s living arrangements 
and avoid unnecessary deaths.

To a lesser extent, the Cheshire West judgement on the 
Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS) has been a driver 
for change, and has placed an almost impossible burden  
on local authorities to meet their legal responsibilities.  
The response in the three boroughs has been efficient  
and practical, with a continuing focus on person-centred 
Mental Capacity assessment and Best Interests decision-
making. This has achieved some good outcomes for people 
who are deprived of their liberty.

The Law Commission’s review of the Mental Capacity Act 
2005 and DoLS has been accelerated as a direct result of 
the unworkability of the Cheshire West judgement, and the 
DoLS service has been working with the reviewers to shape 
the review. The Board will be submitting a response to the 
consultation in October 2015. It is anticipated that a Bill to 
amend the Mental Capacity Act 2005 will be placed before 
Parliament in 2016.

6      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15

NATIONAL CONTEXT  
FOR SAFEGUARDING

Safeguarding in action
London Fire Brigade have produced a training resource 
for front-line staff going into people’s homes to raise 
awareness of fire risks, and prevent unnecessary deaths.

There is a simple checklist to disseminate to agencies. 
Fire training will be included in all contracts of agencies 
who go into people’s homes.

 The most significant  
driver for change this  
year in safeguarding has 
been the implementation 
of the Care Act 2014 

Page 23



Other developments that have impacted on safeguarding are 
the radical changes to the way the Care Quality Commission 
regulates and inspects health and social care services with 
the new rating system which was rolled out in October 
2014. The Care Quality Commission is rightly focusing 
inspections on the experience of people and their families 
of the care they receive. This has increased the number of 
homes where care is inadequate or requiring improvement, 
with the attendant need for more focused monitoring, and 
joint work, to raise standards of provision for people from 
the three boroughs. This applies equally to people in receipt 
of homecare, hospital care, and residential and nursing care; 
and to people living in the three boroughs, and to those 
placed in other parts of the country.

All this is against a backdrop of reduced public service 
funding which will mainly impact on the local authorities 
and the police, with attendant restructuring of organisations. 
This places a greater imperative on the Board, and its member 
agencies, to find ways of working even more effectively 
together to ensure that people are directed to the best source 
of help, first time, every time, making best use of all our assets, 
and avoiding delays or duplication, or wasted effort.

SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15      7

NATIONAL CONTEXT  
FOR SAFEGUARDING

 There is a growing 
commitment to joint 
risk assessment, risk 
management, and  
planned interventions 

Referral by type 2014/15

4,705 (17%)

4,522 (17%)

17,651 (66%)

  Child protection
  Adult welfare
  Adult safeguarding

Safeguarding in action
This extract from the London Ambulance Service 
Safeguarding Annual report 2014-15 illustrates how  
the service is refining the data it collects and shares, in 
order to make better decisions about directing people  
to the agency that can best provide the help they need 
– in this case, either an assessment of their care and 
support needs (welfare), or a safeguarding enquiry 
(adults or children).

Referral by type 2013/14

6,099 (21%)

23,419 (79%)

  Child
  Adult

Page 24



T
he Safeguarding Adult Executive Board serves the 
London Borough of Hammersmith & Fulham; the  
Royal Borough of Kensington and Chelsea; and the  
City of Westminster.

The Board represents a partnership of agencies who 
together work to promote people’s right to live in safety, 
free from abuse and neglect. Its purpose is to ensure that 
organisations work together to both prevent abuse and 
neglect, and respond in a way that promotes each person’s 
wellbeing, when they have experienced abuse or neglect.

The Board’s strategic role is greater than the sum of the 
operational duties of its member agencies. It oversees and 
leads adult safeguarding across the three boroughs. Its task 
is both to assure the quality of response to those who have 
experienced abuse and neglect, and to promote practice  
that prevents abuse and neglect. The Board therefore has  
an interest in: 

●● the safety of patients in local health services 

●● the quality of local care and support services 

●● the effectiveness of prisons and approved premises  
in safeguarding offenders

●● the work of complementary boards, including the  
Health and Wellbeing boards; the Local Safeguarding 
Children’s Board; and the Violence Against Women  
and Children’s Board.

Courage, Compassion and Accountability
The Board takes the view that preventing abuse and neglect 
takes three key behaviours. 

Adult safeguarding takes courage. It takes courage to 
acknowledge that abuse or neglect is occurring, and it takes 
courage to overcome our natural reluctance to report abuse 
and face the consequences for all concerned of having 
reported it.

The Board encourages members, and people within the 
organisations they represent, to act with compassion 
towards one another. Compassion, if consistently practised, 
is most likely to prevent abuse and neglect.

The Board is clear that all member agencies are accountable 
to one another and to the people of the three boroughs 
whom they serve.

The Board structure
The work of the Board is carried out by its three workstreams: 
Community Engagement; Developing Best Practice; and 
Measuring Effectiveness; and the newly formed Safeguarding 
Adults Case Review group. The Board also commissions 
time-limited ‘task and finish groups’ that focus on issues that 
member agencies identify as needing particular attention. 

The Community Engagement group raises public 
awareness of safeguarding and how to act on concerns 
about abuse and neglect. 

The Developing Best Practice group works to increase 
the effectiveness of staff responses when abuse or neglect 
has been disclosed. 

The Measuring Effectiveness group helps the Board and 
its members to evidence how its work is making a difference 
in preventing abuse and neglect of local people. 

The Safeguarding Adults Case Review group was 
developed this year to provide a measured and proportionate 
response to the Section 42 of the Care Act 2014 requirement 
to review adult deaths, or serious harm where abuse or 
neglect may have occurred.

8      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15

WHAT THE SAFEGUARDING 
ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  
IS AND WHAT IT DOES

The six safeguarding principles
The work of the Board is guided by the six principles  
that underpin all adult safeguarding work. These are:

Empowerment: People are supported and encouraged 
to make their own decisions.

Prevention: It is better to take action before harm occurs.

Proportionality: The least intrusive response to the  
risk presented.

Protection: Support and representation for those in 
greatest need.

Partnership: Local solutions through services working 
with their communities.

Accountability: Accountability and transparency in 
delivering safeguarding.

Page 25



The members
This is a list of the agencies represented on the Board. 
Members are of sufficient seniority within their organisation 
to be able to make decisions and commit resources on their 
behalf. There is an expectation that representatives will 
attend all four meetings each year.

Agencies represented on the Board 
●● Adult Social Care 

●● The Metropolitan Police Service

●● CWHHE Clinical Commissioning Groups Collaborative

●● Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust

●● Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust

●● Royal Brompton and Harefield NHS Foundation Trust

●● The Royal Marsden NHS Foundation Trust

●● Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust

●● Central North West London NHS Foundation Trust

●● West London Mental Health NHS Trust

●● London Ambulance Service

●● Healthwatch Central West London

●● London Fire Brigade

●● London Probation Service

●● Crown Prosecution Service

●● Boroughs’ Children’s Services

●● Public Health

●● Elected Members from the three Local Authorities

●● Community Safety

●● Housing

●● NHS England

●● HMP Wormwood Scrubs

SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15      9

WHAT THE SAFEGUARDING 
ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  

IS AND WHAT IT DOES

Safeguarding Adults Executive Board 

Independent Chair
Safeguarding Adults Executive Board:

LBHF, RBKC & WCC

Developing  
Best Practice

Steering group Steering group

Time-limited ‘task and finish’ groups

Chair’s group

Measuring  
Effectiveness

Safeguarding Adults  
Case Review group

Steering group

Community  
Engagement 

Communication  
and Prevention

 The Board’s strategic 
role is greater than the 
sum of the operational 
duties of its member 
agencies 

Page 26



At its meeting in January 2014, the Board adopted five outcomes against which 
to measure its effectiveness. In order to achieve these outcomes, the Board 
identified five key areas of work during 2014-2015. These areas were:

●● Embedding the Making Safeguarding 
Personal1 approach into the work of all 
agencies working with people with care and 
support needs in the three boroughs.

●● Ensuring that the new statutory duties for 
Safeguarding Adults under the Care Act 
2014 were fully understood, and that Board 
members were confident about their new 
responsibilities and about applying them to 
practice in their organisations from 1 April 2015.

●● Developing a multi-agency process for 
conducting Safeguarding Adults Reviews, 
with capacity and capability to use the Social 
Care Institute of Excellence’s ‘Learning Together’, 
as recommended in statutory guidance. 

●● Learning from Winterbourne View, and 
consolidating the joint work of continuously 
improving people’s experience of care,  
in care and nursing homes, in their own homes 
and in the three boroughs.

●● Establishing closer working between 
the Board and the Local Children’s 
Safeguarding Board; the Community 
Safety Partnerships; and the Health and 
Wellbeing Boards, in all three boroughs,  
on issues of common concern, to achieve  
better outcomes for children and people with 
care and support needs, who have experienced 
abuse and neglect.

10      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15

WHAT WE SET OUT 
TO DO IN 2014/15

1 �See Glossary.

 In January 2014, the Board adopted 
five outcomes against which to measure 
its effectiveness 

Page 27



SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15      11

WHAT WE SET OUT 
TO DO IN 2014/15

The five outcomes adopted by the Board  
at its January 2014 meeting: 

	 People are aware of safeguarding  
and know what to do if they have  
a concern or need for help. 

	 People are able to report abuse  
and are listened to. 

	 Concerns about harm or abuse are 
properly investigated and people can 
say what they want to happen. 

	 People feel and are safer as a result of 
safeguarding action being taken (but 
being safe on its own is not enough).

	 The wider well-being of people is 
maintained or enhanced as result of 
safeguarding activity.

1
2
3
4
5

Page 28



12      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15

WHAT WE ACHIEVED 
IN 2014/15

Understanding the new statutory duties for  
Safeguarding Adults under the Care Act 2014 
Board members were asked to identify their training needs 
and as a result had the opportunity this year to attend two 
workshops on understanding the Care Act 2014. These were 
well-attended and very informative. 

In addition, at its meetings, members have been using the 
Social Care Institute for Excellence (SCIE) checklist to identify 
areas that need more work in the coming year. These are:

●● clarifying the Designated Safeguarding Adults  
Manager role; 

●● formalising information-sharing agreements for 
Section 42 Enquiries and Section 44 Reviews; and

●● committing resources to enable the Board to carry out  
its work. 

Members are also mindful that more work needs to be 
done on involving people who have direct experiences of 
services, and their families and carers, and organisations 
that are not represented on the Board, in its work in order 
to become even more effective. To this end, the Community 
Engagement group is consulting as widely as possible on the 
Board’s strategy during 2015-16. 

Developing a multi-agency process for conducting 
Safeguarding Adults Reviews
A new sub-group of the Board, the Safeguarding Adults 
Case Review Group, has been reviewing cases under Section 
44 of the Act, where a person has died, or been seriously 
harmed, and agencies could have worked more effectively to 
protect the person. 

The group is chaired by the Metropolitan Police Borough 
Commander for Kensington and Chelsea: Agencies 
represented on the Board are also represented on the group. 
Additional expertise is provided by Standing Together; a 
registered manager from a local nursing home; a Trustee of 
Action Disability Kensington and Chelsea; and the Social Care 
Institute for Excellence. 

The group is working together on improving information-
sharing between organisations, which is so critical 
to effective safeguarding. Failure to share information 

effectively is a repeated theme in national enquiries and Case 
Reviews. The group’s greatest challenges are ensuring that 
reviews are proportionate to the seriousness of the failure 
of agencies to work together; and finding the best ways to 
help families participate in reviews to get answers to their 
questions, and to help them with their loss.

Joint work of continuously improving people’s  
experience of care
The work of implementing the learning from Winterbourne 
View which was initially overseen by the Board has been 
carried forward by the Learning Disability Board and the 
Clinical Commissioning Groups. The work this year has been:

●● monitoring the use of assessment and treatment 
placements for people with learning disabilities

●● ensuring people have as little time as needed in  
assessment and treatment placements

●● providing advocates for people with learning disability 
living outside of the boroughs

●● listening to family concerns

●● developing local housing provision to, where possible, 
accommodate people nearer home.

Members of the Board also undertook to review their 
‘Whistleblowing’ policies to ensure staff feel safe when 
raising concerns. 

The managers from nineteen local care homes, together with 
commissioners and safeguarding adults leads took part in a 
Health-funded Compassionate Leadership programme, 
ending with a celebratory event on 17 July 2014. The course 
was well received and well-evaluated. 

The impact of the training, and other indicators of quality 
are tracked through the multi-agency Safeguarding 
Information Panel. Members of the panel share 
intelligence from contract monitoring; Care Quality 
Commission reports; safeguarding incidents; placement 
reviews and identify early signs of concern, and work with 
providers to take actions to address those concerns and 
ensure good quality of care.

The work of the Panel contributes to meeting the 
requirements of the Care Act 2014 to manage the market 
and prevent provider failure. 

Page 29



SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15      13

WHAT WE ACHIEVED 
IN 2014/15

Closer working between the Board and the Local 
Children’s Safeguarding Board; the Community Safety 
Partnerships; and the Health and Wellbeing Boards
The Board has agreed protocols with the Health and 
Wellbeing Boards in each of the three boroughs, so that 
where safeguarding issues are affecting health outcomes 
for local people, consideration can be given to how services 
might be commissioned differently.

Member agencies of the Board contributed to the 
consultation on the Violence Against Women and Girls 
Board strategy. A protocol about how the two Boards 
work together is being put in place, to ensure that the 
new safeguarding categories of abuse under the Care Act, 
domestic abuse and modern day slavery, are responded to 
safely and appropriately, making the best use of resources.

In November 2014, the Local Children’s Safeguarding 
Board and Safeguarding Adults Executive Board members 
shared a development event. The event included learning 
from a national Serious Case Review and identifying areas  
for joint work. This has led to:

●● development of a shared protocol for safeguarding 
children leaving care

●● regular meeting between the Independent Chairs  
of both Boards

●● shared representatives on both Boards

●● shared learning from Case Reviews and Domestic  
Violence Reviews

●● completion of the Section 11 audit.

 I have a better work and life balance 
and I am making the time to listen to my 
staff and customers. I am more assertive in 
advocating compassionate leadership and 
taking individual circumstances into account 
before making decisions2 
2 �From a manager who took part in the Compassionate Leadership course responding to the question: “As a result of the course what changes, if any, have you made in  

your private life and/or work practices?”.

Page 30



In January 2014, the Board adopted an outcome focus to its work, in the  
belief that this approach constantly challenges member agencies to answer the 
question ‘What difference are we making?’ This year, we are reporting progress 
on what we said we would do; WE SAID: WE DID. 

In next year’s annual report (2015-16), having consulted more widely on the 
Board’s strategic priorities, we will be reporting what YOU SAID: and what WE DID.

14      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15

THE FIVE OUTCOMES:  
WE SAID – WE DID

3 �The Safeguarding Adults Reference Group is a group of people from who have experience of using services themselves, or represent those who do. Members are trained  
as adult safeguarding trainers. 

Safeguarding in action
The Trust has a training strategy that includes adult 
safeguarding in mandatory induction and refreshers. 
The training focuses on responsibility for sharing 
information about concerns. 

Risks associated with the reliance on face-to-face 
sessions to support staff to fulfill their responsibilities 
is mitigated by clearly signposted online information 
including: contact numbers for managerial and local 
authority support; local services supporting particular 
risks (e.g. domestic abuse services; channel referrals 
within PREVENT); applying the Mental Capacity Act; 
child protection. 

Work is underway to ensure that all information and 
training is in line with the Care Act 2014. One example 
of this is the Trust’s engagement with the development 
of the Self-Neglect and Hoarding Policy. This was partly 
prompted by the risks shared by emergency department 
attendances and the inclusion of self-neglect within the 
Statutory Guidelines supporting the Care Act 2014.

An extract from the Central London Community  
Trust’s self-assessment as to how it is meeting the  
Board Outcomes.

WE SAID:
We will make more people aware of 
safeguarding and what to do if they have a 
concern or need for help.

WE DID:
The Community Engagement work stream updated the 
Keeping Safe leaflet, helped by the Safeguarding Adults 
Reference Group3, to make it meet the requirements of 
Care Act 2014. The leaflet was distributed to as many 
organisations as possible and made available electronically on 
the People First website (www.peoplefirstinfo.org.uk).

We are now working on a leaflet about ‘What to expect 
after you have raised a concern’ which will be 
distributed in October 2015.

Twenty organisations, mainly those providing housing 
and homelessness services, completed the Safeguarding 
‘Training for Trainers’ course. Trainers train their staff to 
recognise and report abuse and also make sure that people 
who use their services know how to raise a concern, and 
are supported by staff to do so.

OUTCOME 1

Page 31



SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15      15

THE FIVE OUTCOMES: 
WE SAID – WE DID

The effectiveness of the work is being measured using 
Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework national 
indicators, including ‘I feel safer’.

Staff who participated in the pilot welcomed the approach 
and it will be rolled out across all Adult Social Care and 
Mental Health teams in the three boroughs in 2015-16.

The effectiveness of the approach from the perspective 
of people who have experienced neglect or abuse will be 
measured in 2015-16. 

This will be possible, because Adult Social Care has changed 
its recording to include the outcomes people are looking 
for. We will be checking and recording at each stage of the 
safeguarding enquiry if the person who has experienced 
abuse or neglect is satisfied with their experience. 

We will also be conducting another survey of people who 
have experienced a safeguarding enquiry during 2015-16 to 
see if Making Safeguarding Personal has made a difference.

WE SAID:
We will make sure people are able to report 
abuse and are listened to.

WE DID:
We carried out a Making Safeguarding Personal4 pilot 
in three Adult Social Care operational teams between 
November 2014 and February 2015. 

The pilot confirmed what the customer survey 
conducted in the spring told us, that:

●● people need to have better information about how to 
report their safeguarding concerns

●● people want to be listened to and to be more in control  
of what happens after they have reported a concern.

The Making Safeguarding Personal pilot encouraged  
staff to:

●● ask the person who has experienced abuse or neglect: 
‘What do you want to happen next?’ at each stage of 
the safeguarding enquiry 

●● to consider holding meetings in people’s homes, rather 
than in offices or on wards

●● think about whether or not a person needs an advocate.

 Staff who participated 
in the pilot welcomed the 
approach and it will be 
rolled out 

4 �The Making Safeguarding pilot was sponsored by the Health and Social Care Information Centre; the Association of Directors of Adult Social Services; and the Social  
Work Research Centre. The pilot has achieved a Gold Standard. This means it was externally evaluated. The validation was provided by Professor Jill Manthorpe from  
Kings College London.

Safeguarding in action
We should have involved the person more from the 
beginning of the case to ask his view of the matter and 
to explain the situation. We only asked him after we 
completed much of our investigation and really did not 
have the evidence to substantiate any financial abuse.

He explained in detail how he provides the person 
alleged to have caused harm with his bank cards and 
wallet and tells them to take money. When we learnt 
this, we were able to have a different, more helpful 
conversation with him.

Reflection by a Safeguarding Adults Manager on the 
value of Making Safeguarding Personal.

OUTCOME 2

Page 32



16      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15

THE FIVE OUTCOMES: 
WE SAID – WE DID

OUTCOME 3

WE SAID:
Concerns about harm or abuse will be properly 
investigated and people can say what they 
want to happen.

WE DID:
We reviewed the system that the police have put in  
place for Vulnerable Adults Coming to Notice to 
see if a multi-agency safeguarding hub, similar to the 
arrangements to those for children at risk, needs to 
be put in place. This work has not been progressed to 
date because of resource implications for both the local 
authority and the police.

The Safeguarding Adults Case Review Group is adopting 
the Social Care Institute for Excellence ‘Learning 
Together’ model of reviewing the actions taken in response 
to a concern when reviewing cases under Section 44 of the 
Act, where a person has died, or been seriously harmed, 
and agencies could have worked more effectively to 
protect the person.

As part of Making Safeguarding Personal, and in 
developing Care Act 2015 Section 42 enquiries, we are 
working to ensure that the person or agency raising a 
safeguarding concern is informed about what will 
happen next, by the manager assessing the risks involved. 
Agencies, including the London Ambulance Service, will 
be assured that, where appropriate, their raising a concern 
has resulted in a particular action to reduce the risk to the 
person involved. 

Safeguarding in action
There is a lack of consistency in the Trust being 
informed about the Local Authority response to 
safeguarding alerts raised by staff. This limits a robust 
response to this outcome. 

For in-patients, if the safeguarding response is not 
clearly communicated, any risks are managed within 
normal multi-disciplinary approaches to care, with the 
engagement of appropriate agencies engaged with the 
patient across their pathway of care in the hospital.

Members of trust staff engage in investigations by 
supporting strategy meetings and case conferences, 
and by reporting outcomes of investigations where 
considered appropriate within the case. In cases that 
involve the care in hospital, investigations commonly 
are undertaken in parallel with other ‘internal’ 
processes; for example, sharing outcomes of Pressure 
Ulcers Root Cause Analysis, and alongside Human 
Resource processes if the concerns involve employees 
of the Trust.

When indicated, staff engage with and support the 
person at risk to make a meaningful contribution to 
the safeguarding process. 

An extract from the Central London Community  
Trust’s self-assessment as to how it is meeting the 
Board Outcomes.

 Staff engage with and support the person 
at risk to make a meaningful contribution to 
the safeguarding process  

Page 33



SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15      17

THE FIVE OUTCOMES: 
WE SAID – WE DID

OUTCOME 4

WE SAID:
We want people to feel and be safer as a result 
of safeguarding action being taken (but being 
safe on its own is not enough).

WE DID:
The Board has developed a set of Safer Recruitment 
principles for member agencies to adopt. This was 
prompted by the UK Border Agency identifying a 
significant number of people in a local care agency who 
did not have the correct documents to work in the UK. 
The Safer Recruitment principles are designed to help 
organisations to face the challenge of finding the right 
people to undertake care work in an increasingly difficult 
job market in central London.

In April, a review of the contributions made by Adult 
Social Care representatives to the work of the three Multi- 
Agency Risk Assessment Conferences (MARACs)5 in 
the three boroughs was carried out. The largest proportion 
of adult cases at the MARAC involves people with mental 
health and substance use issues, and representation from 
the mental health trusts and substance-use providers 
at the MARACs is good. Adult Social Care teams work 
with older people and people with physical and learning 
disabilities. A very small percentage of MARAC cases 
involve adults from these groups, and of those referred to 
Adult Social Care, the majority do not meet the MARAC 
risk threshold, and any work is taken forward under 
Safeguarding procedures. 

The actions prompted by the review findings included: 
ensuring Adult Social Care staff have the skills and 
knowledge to respond effectively to people who are 
experiencing domestic abuse, including working with 
controlling and coercive behaviour; clarifying local 
arrangements between safeguarding and the MARACs; 
providing evidence that the number of high risk 
safeguarding cases are being referred to the MARAC 
(nationally 10%).

Safeguarding in action
Ms. P is 37 years old, has physical disabilities and  
lives with her mother and brother. She was admitted 
to hospital where professionals were concerned about 
the care she received at home. She was underweight 
and dehydrated. It was alleged that one of her sisters 
may have physically harmed her. Her stay in hospital 
was authorised by a Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
(DoLS) standard authorisation. 

As Ms. P recovered her health, it became clear that she 
wanted to return home to live with her family. She did 
not fully understand the circumstances that had led 
to her being in hospital, or why health and social care 
professionals were worried about her going home. 

The DoLS Best Interests Assessor consulted Ms. P  
and her paid representative and decided it was not 
in Ms. P’s best interest to remain in hospital as her 
treatment had ended and her health was restored. 
Some difficult conversations took place between Ms. P’s 
mother, her social worker and health professionals. 

An agreement was eventually reached about the care 
Ms. P would receive, which would keep her safe and 
well, living with her family and respects Ms. P’s wishes 
as far as possible; Ms. P was discharged home..

5 See Glossary.

Page 34



18      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15

THE FIVE OUTCOMES: 
WE SAID – WE DID

WE SAID:
We want the wider wellbeing of people 
to be maintained or enhanced as result of 
safeguarding activity.

WE DID:
We have developed a multi-agency Safeguarding 
Information Panel6 which is a group of people with an 
interest in providing quality care in the three boroughs, 
who share information about where problems may be 
occurring, and plan with local providers how these can  
be addressed.

We have developed a way of learning together 
from local and national case reviews, including 
Winterbourne View; Gloria Foster; and Michael Gilbert, 
so that we begin to address some of issues that reviews 
repeatedly highlight, and work more effectively together 
and prevent further harm.

A Pressure Ulcer Protocol has been adopted across the 
three boroughs to help staff in all agencies identify where 
pressure ulcers may be a sign of neglect and indicate that 
a safeguarding enquiry may be needed.

In November 2014, agencies represented on the Board 
completed a Self-assessment of their organisation’s 
safeguarding arrangements and developed action plans  
to address gaps. 

This work has also informed the Board’s strategic priorities 
for 2015/16.

Safeguarding in action
Mrs. J is a 63 year old woman who has a health 
condition that makes walking difficult. She disclosed 
to her occupational therapist that her daughter had 
stolen £15,000 from her bank account. The OT asked 
her what she would like to do about this. Mrs. J said 
she had already involved the bank and the police, 
which is why she knew it was her daughter who took 
the money.

Mrs. J didn’t think she would get the money back but 
wanted some advice and information about how to 
find her daughter as she had left home. Mrs. J thought 
her daughter, who has learning difficulties, may have 
been put up to stealing the money by people who 
meant her harm, and Mrs. J was worried she may now 
be being exploited by the same people. 

Mrs. J’s OT supported her to contact the police, and 
to use web-based agencies who specialise in finding 
missing people.

6 �Members of the Safeguarding Information Panel include the Care Quality Commission; health and adult social care commissioners and safeguarding leads; placement 
monitoring and brokerage officers; and Healthwatch.

OUTCOME 5

 We have developed a way of learning 
together from local and national case 
reviews, to address issues they highlight  

Page 35



SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15      19

THE FIVE OUTCOMES: 
WE SAID – WE DID

 We will survey people who have 
experienced a safeguarding enquiry during 
2015/16 to see if Making Safeguarding 
Personal has made a difference  

 The Safeguarding Adults Case Review 
Group is adopting the ‘Learning Together’ 
model of reviewing actions taken in 
response to a concern  

 Agencies on the Board completed a 
self-assessment of their organisation’s 
safeguarding arrangements and developed 
action plans to address gaps  

 In next year’s annual report, having 
consulted more widely on the Board’s 
strategic priorities, we will be reporting 
what YOU SAID: and what WE DID  

Page 36



20      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15

What the Board learned in 2014/15
People who took part in the Safeguarding Survey 
(completed in July 2014) said that they want to be  
more in control of what happens to them when they  
have experienced abuse or neglect that has led to a 
safeguarding enquiry.

We learned together from national Serious Case Reviews, 
including Winterbourne View; Michael Gilbert; and 
Gloria Foster, that health and social care commissioners; 
contract and placement monitoring officers; safeguarding 
practitioners; the police; the ambulance service; the Care 
Quality Commission; general practitioners; and district 
nurses; each have a specific role to play in safeguarding 
people with care and support needs, and the importance 
of good information-sharing in preventing abuse and 
neglect, and in delivering safe and respectful care.

Local Safeguarding Adults Reviews are beginning to 
demonstrate that, although individual workers sometimes 
make flawed decisions, it is often the systems between 
organisations that let people down, and these need regular 
review and improvement in order to prevent deaths or 
serious harm. 

Annual and peer audits of adult safeguarding case work 
show that practitioners in all organisations need to feel 
more confident in applying the Mental Capacity Act 2005 to 
decision-making, and in having difficult conversations with 
people about risk and safety.

The Safeguarding Adult Risk Tool (completed in 
November 2014) showed that PREVENT7 training has placed 
a considerable burden on organisations, and a reduction of 
this burden is welcomed. Also, that engaging and retaining 
staff with suitable qualifications is becoming a challenge in 
health and social care in London.

Board members need to further develop their understanding 
of their new statutory responsibilities under the Care Act 
2014, particularly with regard to: 

●● Safeguarding Enquiries (s42) 

●● Safeguarding Adults Reviews (s44) 

●● sharing information

●● involving groups and communities that are not members 
of the Board, and people with care and support needs, 
and carers, in the work of the Board 

●● addressing the new categories of abuse, including 
domestic abuse, modern slavery, and self-neglect.

The Making Safeguarding Personal8 pilot November 
2014 to February 2015 showed us that practitioners and 
people who have experienced abuse or neglect welcome  
the approach, although it takes more time and some of  
the conversations can be difficult. Also that we need to 
develop practitioners’ skills to work even more effectively 
with families, especially where the person causing harm is 
a family member, or where the person being harmed, is the 
carer of someone with care and support needs.

PRIORITIES  
FOR 2015/16

7 See Glossary.
8 See Glossary.

 The Safeguarding 
Adult Risk Tool showed 
that PREVENT training 
has placed a considerable 
burden on organisations, 
and a reduction of this 
burden is welcomed  

Page 37



SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15      21

What we will be working on in 2015/16
As a result of what we have learned in 2014/15, the Board 
has identified these priorities for 2015/16. These may change 
as a result of consultation: 

There will be more opportunities for people who have 
direct experiences of services, and their families and 
carers, to be involved in safeguarding adults work, 
and the work of the Board. This will include:

●● consulting on the Board’s Strategy for 2016-19

●● reviewing adult safeguarding information and advice  
that is available to the public

●● being more involved in monitoring the quality of 
homecare provision in the three boroughs.

The Making Safeguarding Personal9 approach will  
be adopted by all Adult Social Care and Mental Health  
teams when responding to disclosure of abuse or neglect,  
so that each person who has experienced abuse or neglect 
has as much control as possible in what happens next.  
This will include training staff to have difficult conversations; 
working with carer organisations to develop ways to  
support carers who may be experiencing abuse; increasing 
the use of advocacy in safeguarding; and developing Family 
Group Conferencing.

Agencies represented on the Board will continue to work 
together to ensure local services are safe, respectful, 
and of a high standard. This work will include:

●● adopting Safer Recruitment practices 

●● using safeguarding data and learning from case review 
to inform health and adult social care commissioning, 
working with the Health and Wellbeing Boards

●● building on the Compassionate Leadership programme

●● sharing information about local provider performance, 
including the views of customers and their families, in 
order to support continuous improvement and prevent 
market failure 

●● continuing the work of aligning the work of the Board 
with the work of the Local Children’s Safeguarding Board, 
and clarifying both Boards’ relationship with the Violence 
Against Women and Children’s Board, across the three 

boroughs. This is to make sure that agencies working with 
children and adults, who are experiencing different kinds 
of harm, are responsive, well-co-ordinated, and the best 
use is made of resources.

Board members are working with agencies to develop 
better information-sharing, possibly through an adult 
MASH arrangement, so that people with care and support 
needs who have experienced crime, have better access to the 
criminal justice system.

A response is being prepared to the findings of the Law 
Commission Review of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 
and the Board will implement any necessary changes to 
practice, and to the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards service 
across the three local authorities and NHS.

The Board will complete the implementation of the Care 
Act 2014 including clarifying the role of the Designated 
Safeguarding Adults Manager and improving 
information-sharing to assist the conduct of Section 42 
Enquiries and Section 44 Reviews.

PRIORITIES  
FOR 2015/16

9 See Glossary.

 Agencies will continue 
to work together to ensure 
services are safe, respectful, 
and of a high standard  

Page 38



2014-15 was the first full year that all three local authorities collected  
information on safeguarding using the same forms and the same IT system.  
This section draws on this information to provide an indication of how well  
we are doing in achieving our strategic outcomes.

W
ith the implementation of the Care Act in April 
2015, some of the terminology surrounding 
safeguarding practice and procedures has 
changed. Previously, when someone reported a 

concern about an incident of potential abuse, the concern 
raised was known as a safeguarding alert. If the alert was 
assessed as requiring investigation under safeguarding 
procedures, it was then referred to as a safeguarding 
referral. Under the new terminology safeguarding alerts will 
be known as safeguarding concerns while investigations 
will be known as safeguarding enquiries. 

Since the data presented in this section relates to the period 
prior to April 2015, we have retained the old terms here but 
in our day to day practice we are now using the new ones 
and will be using these when we report on our progress  
in future.

As part of the requirements of the Care Act, and also 
to make sure the person at risk is at the centre of the 
safeguarding process, we have amended and improved our 
documentation and forms for collecting information. 

A key feature of this change has been the inclusion of 
sections which focus on the preferences and wishes of the 
person at risk and their family and friends. This means that  
in 2015-16 we will be in a much better position to say how 
well we are achieving what it is the person wants to happen,  
a goal which runs through all of our outcomes.

22      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15

MEASURING PROGRESS 
TOWARDS THE OUTCOMES

 In 2015/16 we will be in a much 
better position to say how well we are 
achieving what it is the person at risk 
wants to happen, a goal which runs 
through all of our outcomes 

Page 39



People are aware of safeguarding and  
know what to do if they have a concern or 
need for help
As people become more sensitive to potential safeguarding 
situations and how to respond to them, we would expect 
the number safeguarding alerts we receive to increase 
(assuming there is no change in the occurrence of abuse).

In 2014-15 we received, across the three boroughs, a total 
of 2,127 safeguarding alerts. The number received by 
each borough varied considerably: 972 by Kensington and 
Chelsea, 703 by Westminster, and 452 by Hammersmith  
& Fulham (Chart 1).

As each borough has had to change the way it records 
safeguarding information, in order to move to a common 
process and common IT system, it is difficult to draw 
comparisons with the number of alerts received in previous 
years but the number received by Kensington and Chelsea 
is a significant increase from the number received in 
2013-14 (633), the number received by Westminster a 
slight increase (from 663), and the number received by 
Hammersmith & Fulham a notable fall (from 632). One 
of our priorities in 2015-16 is to determine how much of 
this difference is due to changes in systems and processes 
and how much is due to other factors such as the use of 
different safeguarding thresholds across the boroughs.

As people acquire a greater understanding of what 
constitutes a safeguarding incident, we would expect 
higher proportions of the alerts received to be assessed 
as requiring an investigation under safeguarding 
procedures. In 2014-15 in each borough about 70% of 
the alerts received were judged to require a safeguarding 
investigation. This is largely in line with the most recently 
reported average for London as a whole (68% in 2012-13).

SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15      23

MEASURING PROGRESS 
TOWARDS THE OUTCOMES

1100

1000

900

800

700

600

500

400

300

200

100

0
Hammersmith 

& Fulham
WestminsterKensington 

and Chelsea

Other response
Requires investigation 
under safeguarding

Chart 1
Number of safeguarding alerts received in 2014-15 
and whether or not they were assessed as requiring 
investigation under safeguarding procedures

OUTCOME 1

Page 40



MEASURING PROGRESS 
TOWARDS THE OUTCOMES

24      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15

People are able to report abuse and are 
listened to
Although the number of alerts each borough received was 
very different, the number each received from different 
sources was, proportionately, very similar. Across the three 
boroughs as a whole about 70% of alerts were raised by 
staff working in social care or for the NHS. Just under 10% 
were raised by Housing and the Police and about 18% by  
a family member, friend or neighbour, or the person at  
risk themselves.

Chart 2 shows whereabouts the incidents occurred for 
all the investigations that were completed in 2014-15 
(1,185 in total; 590 in Kensington and Chelsea, 350 in 
Westminster, and 245 in Hammersmith & Fulham).

Although safeguarding incidents are often associated 
in the media with care homes, this table shows that 

safeguarding incidents are much more likely to occur 
in people’s own homes. In these situations, the person 
responsible for the abuse or harm is usually a home care 
worker or family member, though sometimes a stranger.

In about a third of the safeguarding investigations completed 
in 2014-15 the person alleged to have caused harm or 
abuse worked for an organisation providing social care, 
including home care agencies and residential care homes. 
Chart 3 shows that in these cases the type of abuse most 
frequently reported or alleged was neglect, or omitting to do 
something. In the other cases, where the person who caused 
harm did not work for an organisation providing social care, 
other types of abuse were reported more frequently.

Hammersmith  
& Fulham %

Kensington  
and Chelsea %

Westminster % Triborough area %

Social care 34.8 33.8 37.7 35.4

Health 38.1 33.6 33.2 34.6

Housing 4.1 3.5 5.3 4.3

Police 1.9 4.6 0.8 2.6

Education/Training/Workplace 0.0 0.7 0.8 0.5

Care Quality Commission 0.4 0.4 0.3 0.4

Self-referral 6.3 6.2 4.8 5.7

Family member 10.0 10.4 8.8 9.7

Friend/Neighbour 0.7 3.1 2.4 2.3

Other service user 0.7 0.7 0.8 0.7

Other 3.0 2.9 5.3 3.7

Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0

Table 1
The sources of safeguarding alerts (2014-15)

OUTCOME 2

Page 41



MEASURING PROGRESS 
TOWARDS THE OUTCOMES

SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15      25

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%

0%
Hammersmith 

& Fulham
LondonWestminster Triborough 

area
Kensington 
and Chelsea

Other
Community service
Own home
Hospital
Care home

Chart 2
Where incidents of alleged abuse occurred
(based on investigations completed in 2014-15)

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%

0%
Social care 
provider

Other
source

Social care 
provider

Other
source

Triborough area London

Institutional
Discriminatory
Neglect /Acts of omission
Financial and material

Psychological/Emotional
Sexual
Physical

Chart 3
Types of alleged abuse according to whether the 
individual or organisation believed to be the source  
of risk was a provider of social care or support 

 Across the three boroughs as a whole 
about 70% of alerts were raised by staff 
working in social care or for the NHS 

OUTCOME 2

Page 42



MEASURING PROGRESS 
TOWARDS THE OUTCOMES

26      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15

Concerns about harm or abuse are properly 
investigated and people can say what they 
want to happen
One of the aims of any safeguarding investigation is to 
collect evidence about the allegation, evaluate it and come 
to a professional judgement about whether on the balance 
of probabilities it is believed to have happened. 

Chart 4 shows that the outcomes of the investigations 
completed in 2014-15 were very similar across the three 
boroughs and consistent with the pattern for London as 
a whole. Across the three boroughs as a whole four out 
of ten completed investigations were substantiated or 
partially substantiated. Just over three out of ten were 
judged as not substantiated and just over two out of ten 
as inconclusive.

In Hammersmith & Fulham the proportion of completed 
investigations judged to be inconclusive has declined over 
the last three years to the extent that it is now similar  
to the proportions reported in the other two boroughs.  
This reflects a change of practice among professionals 
and an increased confidence among staff in making a 
professional judgement about the incident in the light of  
the available information.

When carrying out safeguarding investigations, the 
wishes of the person at risk should be paramount. Where 
someone lacks the capacity to make decisions about the 
safeguarding incident, we try to make sure that they have 
support from an independent person, who may be a family 
member, friend or formal advocate. 

In 2014-15 the person at risk was assessed as lacking 
capacity to make decisions in relation to the safeguarding 
process in about 20% of completed investigations. In 
69% of these cases the person was supported by a family 
member, friend or advocate. Although this is slightly higher 
than the London average (67%), it means that in three out 
of ten cases the person assessed as lacking capacity did not 
have independent support during the investigation.

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%

0%
Hammersmith 

& Fulham
LondonWestminster Triborough 

area

Not supported Supported by an advocate,
family member or friend

Kensington 
and Chelsea

Chart 5
Whether those who were assessed as lacking capacity 
to make decisions in relation to the safeguarding 
process had support from an advocate, family 
member or friend

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%

0%
Hammersmith 

& Fulham
LondonWestminster Triborough 

area

Not substantiated
Inconclusive

Partially substantiated
Fully substantiated

Kensington 
and Chelsea

Chart 4
Whether or not the allegations of abuse were upheld
(based on investigations completed in 2014-15,  
excluding where investigation ceased)

OUTCOME 3

Page 43



MEASURING PROGRESS 
TOWARDS THE OUTCOMES

SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15      27

People feel and are safer as a result of a 
safeguarding action being taken (but being 
safe on its own is not enough)
The overall goal of a safeguarding investigation is to 
achieve the outcomes the person at risk wants to achieve 
and improve their safety and quality of life and enhance 
their wellbeing. This may involve the removal of the 
source of risk, a reduction in the source of risk, or an 
acceptance of a given level of risk because of the particular 
circumstances, for example because the person wishes  
to stay in contact with a family member who was the 
source of risk.

Chart 6 shows that in 2014-15 action was taken to address 
the risk in 80% of completed investigations.  
This was slightly above the London average (68%). Usually 
action is taken when the allegation is upheld. It can 
include a variety of things such as increased monitoring 
of the person at risk, referral for a social care assessment, 
disciplinary action for the alleged perpetrator, or action 
taken by another organisation such as a care home or  
the police.

The effect of this action in these investigations is shown 
in Chart 7. Although there was some variation across the 
three boroughs, the pattern was broadly similar. Across the 
three boroughs as a whole, the most frequently reported 
effect was a reduction in risk (54%). This was followed 
by a removal of risk (36%) and then no change in the risk 
(10%). This is largely consistent with the pattern for all 
London boroughs although across London slightly higher 
proportions of investigations resulted in the risk being 
removed and slightly lower proportions in the risk being 
reduced or unchanged.

In 2015-16, as part our drive to put the person at risk 
at the centre of the safeguarding process, we will be 
reporting on whether or not they felt that the process had 
resulted in their desired outcomes being achieved.

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%

0%
Hammersmith 

& Fulham
LondonWestminster Triborough 

area

No, no further action
Yes, action taken

Kensington 
and Chelsea

Chart 6
Whether investigations resulted in action  
under safeguarding

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%

0%
Hammersmith 

& Fulham
LondonWestminster Triborough 

area

Risk removed
Risk reduced
Risk remains

Kensington 
and Chelsea

Chart 7
Whether as a result of the action the risk of abuse  
was judged to have been removed or reduced

OUTCOME 4

Page 44



MEASURING PROGRESS 
TOWARDS THE OUTCOMES

28      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15

Chart 10 (p. 29) shows the proportion of cases that were not 
granted. This will be for a number of reasons, including that 
the person is ineligible for DoLS because they have capacity; 
or need to be treated under the Mental Health Act 1983; or 
it is not in their best interest to receive care and treatment in 
the hospital, care or nursing home who have applied for the 
authorisation to deprive them of their liberty.

Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards 
(DoLS)10

Local authorities assumed sole responsibility for authorising 
deprivations of liberty under the Mental Capacity Act 2005 in 
hospitals, and care and nursing homes from 1 April 2012.

On 19 March 2014 a Supreme Court judgement, known as 
Cheshire West, significantly lowered the threshold for what 
constitutes a deprivation of liberty. 

As anticipated applications for DoLS authorisations increased 
ten-fold during 2014-15, as illustrated in Chart 8 (p. 29).

Such a significant increase in activity placed considerable 
pressure on the resources of the DoLS service which 
covers the three boroughs. The service adopted a system 
which prioritised urgent authorisations, over standard 
authorisations, and took into consideration which people 
would benefit most from the safeguards being applied. 

The lower priority applications are those that on the 31 March 
2015 had not been completed, and are shown in dark green 
in Chart 9 (p. 29).

10 See Glossary.

 Applications for DoLS authorisations 
increased ten-fold during 2014/15.  
Such a significant increase in activity 
placed considerable pressure on the 
resources of the DoLS service 

Page 45



MEASURING PROGRESS 
TOWARDS THE OUTCOMES

SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15      29

100%
90%
80%
70%
60%
50%
40%
30%
20%
10%

0%
Hammersmith 

& Fulham
Westminster

Applications withdrawn
Applications not signed-off yet
Applications not granted
Applications granted

Kensington 
and Chelsea

Chart 9
The outcomes of DoLS applications received in  
2014-15, as of 31 March 2015

300

250

200

150

100

50

0
Hammersmith 

& Fulham
Westminster

2012-13
2013-14
2014-15

Kensington 
and Chelsea

Chart 8
Number of DoLS applications received in  
the reporting year

140

100

120

80

60

40

20

0
2013-14 2014-152013-14 2014-152013-14 2014-15

Not granted
Granted

Hammersmith 
& Fulham

WestminsterKensington 
and Chelsea

Chart 10
Number of DoLS applications completed in the  
reporting year which were granted/not granted

Page 46



Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS)
On 19 March 2014 a Supreme Court judgement, known as 
Cheshire West, significantly lowered the threshold for what 
constitutes a deprivation of liberty. The Court confirmed that 
to determine whether a person is objectively deprived of 
their liberty there are two key questions to ask, which they 
describe as the ‘acid test’:

1.	 Is the person subject to continuous supervision and 
control?; and

2.	 Is the person free to leave? (The person may not be saying 
this or acting on it but the issue is about how staff would 
react if the person did try to leave).

If a person is subject both to continuous supervision and 
control and not free to leave they are deprived of their liberty. 

The judgement also said that a person could be deprived of 
their liberty in supported living and other domestic settings. 

Once identified, a deprivation of liberty must be authorised 
in accordance with one of the following legal regimes:

●● a deprivation of liberty authorisation, or Court of 
Protection order, under the Deprivation of Liberty 
Safeguards in the Mental Capacity Act 2005; or

●● (if applicable) under the Mental Health Act 1983.

Making Safeguarding Personal
Making Safeguarding Personal starts with the principle that 
people are experts in their own lives. Whilst most people do 
want to be safer, other things may be as, or more, important 
to them; for example, maintaining relationships. So, staff are 
encouraged to ask people who have experienced abuse and 
neglect, ‘What is important to you?’ and ‘What would you 
like to happen next?’.

MARAC (Multi-Agency-Risk-Assessment-Conference) 
MARAC (Multi-Agency-Risk-Assessment-Conference) is a 
meeting where information is shared on the highest risk 
domestic abuse cases between representatives of local 
police, health, child protection, housing practitioners, 
Independent Domestic Violence Advisors (IDVAs) and other 
specialists from the statutory and voluntary sectors. A survivor 
is referred to the relevant MARAC if they are an adult (16+) 
who resides in the borough and are at high risk of domestic 
violence from their adult (16+) partner, ex-partner or family 
member, regardless of gender or sexuality. 

After sharing all relevant information they have about a 
survivor, the representatives discuss options for increasing 
the safety of the survivor and turn these into a co-ordinated 
action plan. The MARAC will also consider other family 
members including any children and managing the behaviour 
of the perpetrator. Information shared at the MARAC is 
confidential and is only used for the purpose of reducing the 
risk of harm to those at risk. 

At the heart of a MARAC is the working assumption that  
no single agency or individual can see the complete picture 
of the life of a survivor, but all may have insights that are 
crucial to their safety. The responsibility to take appropriate 
actions rests with individual agencies; it is not transferred  
to the MARAC. 

Outcome 
An Outcome is what the person who has experienced abuse 
or neglect wants from any work that is done with them. This 
may be that they feel safer but it also may mean that they feel 
that their choices and wishes have been respected. Measuring 
outcomes helps the Board to answer the question “What 
difference did we make?” rather than “What did we do?”.

PREVENT
PREVENT is part of the government’s counter-terrorism 
strategy. Its aim is to stop people becoming terrorists or 
supporting terrorism. Its relevance to the work of the Board 
is that safeguarding work can play a part is in protecting 
people at risk of harm from being drawn into terrorism-
related activity against their will.	

Safeguarding
Safeguarding means protecting a person’s right to live in 
safety, free from abuse and neglect. It is about people and 
organisations working together to prevent and reduce the 
risk of abuse and neglect. When people have experienced 
abuse or neglect, safeguarding is about taking actions  
that are informed by the person’s views, wishes, feelings  
and beliefs.

30      SAFEGUARDING ADULTS EXECUTIVE BOARD  ANNUAL REPORT 2014/15

GLOSSARY OF TERMS

Page 47



©
 By:design – O

ctober 2015  By:design 020 8753 3926  Ref: 172_7at  Printed by H
am

m
erprint 020 8753 2235  Printed on paper from

 sustainable sourcesPage 48



Hammersmith & Fulham

T 0845 313 3935
E h&fadvice.care@lbhf.gov.uk

mistreated?
bullied?
hit?
neglected? 
hurt?
exploited?
silenced?

Don’t ignore it. Report it.

Westminster

T 020 7641 2176
E adultsocialcare@westminster.gov.uk

Kensington and Chelsea 

T 020 7361 3013
E socialservices@rbkc.gov.uk

Page 49



 

Health, Social Care and Social Inclusion Policy and Accountability 
Committee 

 

Work Programme 2015/2016 
 

3 June 2015 

Preparing for Adulthood: A Report About Young People Aged 14-25 with 
Disabilities 
Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust: CQC Report  
The Francis Inquiry Recommendations: Responses by Chelsea and 
Westminster Hospital NHSFT and Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust 

9. Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHSFT: Integration with West 
Middlesex Hospital  

7 July 2015 

10. Addressing Food Poverty in Hammersmith & Fulham 
11. Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHSFT: Integration with West 

Middlesex Hospital  
Primary Care Briefing: GP Networks Network Plan 2015-2016 and Out of 
Hospital Services  

14 September 2015 

Customer Satisfaction 
Immunisation Uptake 
New Home Care Service 
West London Mental Health NHS Trust: Development of Services 

4 November 2015 

Immunisation Uptake: Update  
CQC Inspections: Central London Community Healthcare NHS Trust and 
West London Mental Health NHS Trust 
Public Health: introduction to community services and strategy and in year 
Public Health savings 

19 January 2016 

Healthcare Commission Report 
Safeguarding Adults: H&F Report  

2 February 2016 

2016 Medium Term Financial Strategy 
 
Imperial College Healthcare NHS Trust: Winter Pressure and Outpatients 
PAS Update 
 

14 March 2016 

Charing Cross: Revised Plans 
Flu Vaccination: Update and Monitoring Data (to include CNWL) 
GP Access 
 
 

18 April 2016 

 
Meal Agenda 
 

Future Meetings 

Care Act 
12. Chelsea and Westminster Hospital NHS Foundation Trust: Integration with 

West Middlesex Hospital  

Page 50

Agenda Item 6



 
 

Co-commissioning Work  
Commissioning Strategy: Providers 

13. Community Champions 
14. Community Independence Service 

Customer Journey: Update 
Digital Inclusion Strategy 
End of Life Care: JSNA and CLCH to Update on Action Plan 
Equality and Diversity Programmes and Support for Vulnerable Groups 
H&F CCG Performance 
H&F Foodbank 
Immunisation: Report from the HWB Task and Finish Group 
Integration of Healthcare, Social Care and Public Health 
Listening To and Supporting Carers 
Public Health Report 
Self-directed Support: Progress Update 
Vaccinations 
West London Mental Health Trust: Update 

 

Page 51


	Agenda
	1 Minutes of the Previous Meeting
	01b Meeting Actions and Recommendations Final

	5 Safeguarding Adults Executive Board: Annual Report 2014/2015
	SAEB 2015 172_7at_safeguarding_adults_annual_report_2014-15_proof7

	6 Work Programme

